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The First Amended Complaint [Dkt. No. 154] details how Defendant Carlos Goodspeed 

a/k/a Sean Phillips a/k/a GC d/b/a Top Agent Entertainment d/b/a Mr. Top Agent (“Goodspeed”) 

defrauded investors of Defendants Thurman P. Bryant, III (“Bryant”) and Bryant United Capital 

Funding, Inc. (“BUCF”; collectively the “Bryant Defendants”) of at least $1.37 million through 

fraudulent securities offerings.  If victimizing these investors was not enough, Goodspeed 

continues to actively defraud these investors—and to violate this Court’s asset freeze and 

receivership orders—by funneling investor funds back to Bryant for his personal expenses, as 

demonstrated throughout the accompanying evidentiary Appendix.1 Plaintiff Securities and 

Exchange Commission (“Plaintiff,” “Commission,” or “SEC”) moves this Court to halt 

Goodspeed’s ongoing securities violations and to preserve the Commission’s ability to recover 

assets for the benefit of defrauded investors by entering orders against Goodspeed that: (a) 

expand the existing receivership to include him; (b) impose an asset freeze over his assets; (c)

preliminarily enjoin him from further violations of the federal securities laws; and (d) order him 

to provide the SEC and the Court-appointed receiver with an accounting of his assets.2

I.
INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF REQUESTED RELIEF

The Commission files this motion to halt Goodspeed’s ongoing securities violations and 

to preserve the ability of the Commission and the Receiver to recover and/or preserve assets for 

the benefit of defrauded investors.  

1 The Statement of Facts section, below, reflects page-number citations to the Appendix such that, for example, the 
citation “App. 1, 59, 101.” refers to pages one, 59, and 101 of the Appendix. 

2 The Court may grant the Commission’s requested, emergency relief without an evidentiary hearing.  Pursuant to 
Fed. R. Civ. P. 43(c), the Court may decide the Motion on the basis of affidavits, declarations, deposition excerpts, 
and/or exhibits. See, e.g., FSLIC v. Dixon, 835 F.2d 554, 558-59 (5th Cir. 1987); E. E. Maxwell Co. v. Arti Decor, 
Ltd., 638 F. Supp. 749, 751 n.3 (N.D. Tex. 1986) (Fitzwater, J.).
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The Commission named Goodspeed as a relief defendant in its original complaint [Dkt. 

No. 1] based on his receipt of ill-gotten investor funds from the Bryant Defendants.  However, 

evidence adduced in discovery reveals that Goodspeed also operated a fraud that victimized 

BUCF investors.  Through a series of misrepresentations and omissions, Goodspeed convinced 

Bryant to invest $1.37 million of BUCF investor funds for the stated purpose of investing in 

various events including two concert series featuring Drake and Taylor Swift.  These concert 

series were complete fabrications, and Goodspeed knew it.  Based on this conduct, the SEC 

amended its complaint [Dkt. No. 154] to name Goodspeed as a primary defendant and to allege 

that he violated Section 17(a)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”) and Section 

10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b-5(b) thereunder.

But Goodspeed’s actions during the pendency of this lawsuit—especially in the face of 

this Court’s orders aimed at protecting the aggrieved BUCF investors and their assets—

necessitate that the assets he continues to hold or otherwise control be protected from further 

dissipation.  In violation of the asset-freeze provisions of this Court’s Ex Parte Order Granting 

Motion for Temporary Restraining Order Preliminary Injunction, Asset Freeze, Appointment of 

a Receiver, Document Preservation Order, Order to Make Accounting and Other Emergency 

Relief, and Setting Hearing Date on Plaintiff’s Preliminary-Injunction Motion [Doc. 16, ¶¶15-16,

18-19 (the “Asset Freeze Order”)] and the Amended Order Appointing Receiver [Dkt. No. 48 

(the “Receivership Order”)], Goodspeed admits he has continued to work with Bryant—after the 

Court entered its Asset Freeze Order on May 15, 2017—to pursue unidentified investments with

BUCF investor funds that should be frozen and/or turned over to the Court-appointed receiver.

Further, bank records produced by Bank of America in response to an SEC subpoena reveal that,

as recently as March 27, 2018, Goodspeed has continued to funnel money—that should be frozen
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by this Court’s orders—to Bryant through a bank account opened in the name of Bryant’s wife,

Brandi Bryant (“Mrs. Bryant”), as well as through a bank account jointly held by Bryant and 

Mrs. Bryant. Since the entry of the Asset Freeze Order and the Receivership Order, Goodspeed 

has funneled approximately $100,000 or more in BUCF investor funds back to Bryant.

In order to halt this ongoing fraudulent conduct and to preserve and marshal assets for the 

benefit of aggrieved investors, the Commission moves the Court to: (a) expand the Receivership 

in this case [Dkt. Nos. 17 & 48] to include Goodspeed; (b) order that Goodspeed’s assets are 

frozen until further order of this Court; (c) preliminarily enjoin Goodspeed from committing any 

further violations of the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws; and (d) order 

Goodspeed to provide the Commission and the Receiver with an accounting of his assets.

II.
STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Bryant Defendants’ Initial Fraud

On May 15, 2017, the Commission filed its original Complaint, alleging that the Bryant 

Defendants violated the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws.  [Dkt. No. 1.]  

Between March 2011 and May 2017, the Bryant Defendants raised approximately $22.7 

million from approximately 100 investors in Texas and other states, through materially false and 

misleading statements and omissions of material facts. (App. 2-3 at ¶¶ 4, 5.) Specifically, the 

Bryant Defendants promised investors that their funds would be safely preserved in a secure 

escrow account and used for the sole purpose of serving as proof-of-funds to enable BUCF to 

secure a line of credit with which to pursue a mortgage-related investment program. (App. 2-3 at 

¶ 4.) However, the Bryant Defendants knew that these promises were false, because: (a) no 

secure escrow accounts existed; (b) there was no mortgage-related investment program; (c) the 

Bryant Defendants commingled investor funds in a single deposit account controlled by Bryant;
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and, among other things, (d) Bryant transferred $1.37 million to Goodspeed without the consent 

or knowledge of BUCF investors. (App. 3 at ¶ 5.) Based on his receipt of ill-gotten investor 

funds from the Bryant Defendants, the Commission initially named Goodspeed as a relief 

defendant in its Complaint. However, after conducting preliminary discovery in this matter, the 

Commission learned that Goodspeed had been operating his own investment fraud. 

B. Goodspeed’s Fraud

After the Commission began questioning the Bryant Defendants about what they were 

doing with BUCF investor funds, the Bryant Defendants pivoted and began investing these funds 

with Goodspeed in purported concert tours and celebrity appearances.  In total, between January 

22, 2017 and March 13, 2017, the Bryant Defendants wired $1.37 million of BUCF investor 

money to Goodspeed. (App. 11-15.) 3

In January 2017, Bryant first invested BUCF investor funds with Goodspeed in 

connection with an alleged Lil Wayne Super Bowl party event in Houston, Texas. (App. 18 at 

108:9-11; App. 19 at 117:23-25.) Pursuant to an Investment/Partner Agreement dated January 

22, 2017 (“Lil Wayne Agreement”), Bryant invested $150,000 of BUCF investor funds to 

receive a profit of $80,000 by no later than February 6, 2017.  (App. 47.) Goodspeed also 

guaranteed the return of the $150,000 principal investment if the event was cancelled or 

postponed.  Id.; App. 19-20 at 130:19-131:6. However, instead of receiving the $230,000 

distribution on February 6, 2017, Bryant, on behalf of BUCF, agreed to roll over the $230,000 

into new investments in Drake and Taylor Swift concert series. (App. 22 at 143:2-14; App. 45-

3 In addition to $1.37 million from Bryant, Goodspeed received approximately $500,000 from additional investors 
affiliated with Bryant.  On March 31, 2017, Goodspeed received $200,000 from two individuals that had also 
invested in BUCF (K. Zschappel and R. Zschappel).  On April 17, 2017, Goodspeed received $200,000 from 
Bryant’s father, Relief Defendant Thurman Bryant, Jr.  On May 12, 2017, Goodspeed received $100,000 from Pro B 
Entertainment Group, LLC, an entity controlled by Mrs. Bryant.  Goodspeed received funds from other individuals 
and continued to spend these funds in a manner that was not consistent with producing, promoting, or operating 
concerts. (App. 6 at ¶ 21.)
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46.) Goodspeed’s bank statements reflect that, on or around February 6, 2017, Goodspeed did 

not have $230,000 to pay BUCF if Bryant requested it. (App. 5 at ¶ 20; App. 49-50.)

Goodspeed then solicited Bryant to make another investment of BUCF investor funds, in 

a purported concert series headlined by Drake.  Pursuant to a February 7, 2017 Investor 

Agreement (“Drake Agreement”), BUCF invested $850,000 with Goodspeed to fund a five-date 

concert tour for Drake between March 2017 and June 2017.  (App. 55-60.) In that agreement, 

Goodspeed stated that the $850,000 investment would “be immediately used for the initial 

deposit for the concert events.”  (App. 55 at ¶ 2.) In return, BUCF was to receive the return of its 

principal investment plus $900,000 from the net profits of ticket sales “within approximately five 

(5) business days following the final concert date.”  (App. 56 at ¶ 5.) Goodspeed again 

guaranteed the return of BUCF’s principal investment if the Drake concert series was cancelled 

or postponed. (App. 58 at ¶ 11.)

Goodspeed next solicited Bryant to invest BUCF investor funds in a purported concert 

series headlined by Taylor Swift.  Pursuant to a contract titled Investor Agreement and dated 

March 7, 2017 (“Swift Agreement”), BUCF, through Bryant, invested $600,000 with Goodspeed 

to fund a five-date concert tour for Taylor Swift between June 2017 and August 2017. (App. 62-

66.) In that agreement, Goodspeed stated that the $600,000 investment would “be immediately 

used for the initial deposit for the concert events.” (App. 62 at ¶ 2.) In return, BUCF was to 

receive the return of its principal investment plus $400,000 from the net profits of ticket sales 

“on or before July 1st, 2017.”  (App. 63 at ¶ 5(b).) Goodspeed again guaranteed the return of 

BUCF’s $600,000 principal investment if the Taylor Swift concert series was cancelled or 

postponed. (App. 65 at ¶ 11.)
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Not only did the Drake and Taylor Swift concert series never occur [App. 29 at 167:10-

14; 39 at 208:8-13], but Goodspeed never actually had any genuine plans for them to occur. 

Management representatives for Drake and Taylor Swift have confirmed that neither Goodspeed 

nor the Bryant Defendants have any investments in any concerts or tours. (App. 67 at ¶ 3; 68 at 

¶ 3.) Further, they each confirmed that no concert tours were planned or contemplated during the 

relevant time periods. (App. 67 at ¶ 4; 68 at ¶ 4.) When confronted with these facts during his 

deposition, Goodspeed provided no details about any efforts he made to schedule the Drake or 

Taylor Swift concerts.  (App. 25-26 at 147:24-148:10; 38-39 at 207:2-208:2.) Instead, 

Goodspeed generically claimed that unspecified parties, who he refused to fully 

identify 4 5, were working to schedule the respective concerts.  (App. 23-24 at 144:16-145:4; 38-

39 at 207:10-208:2.)

However, Goodspeed’s bank records don’t lie: there are no expenditures to promote 

concert tours for Drake or Taylor Swift. (App. 4 at ¶ 16.) Indeed, Goodspeed admits that BUCF 

investor funds were not used for these purposes.  (App. 32 at 174:5-14; 36 at 196:17-25; 40 at 

216:8-12.) In fact, Goodspeed’s bank records reveal that he used the BUCF money to bankroll a 

lavish lifestyle, to pay back investors from prior schemes, and to pay other personal debts 

including restitution from an unrelated criminal fraud conviction. (App. 5-6 at ¶¶ 18-20.)

4 As to the Drake tour, Goodspeed testified that he was working with “Chauncey” to invest in this tour.  (App. 23 at 
144:16-25.)  Goodspeed could not identify Chauncey’s last name.  (App. 24 at 145:3-4.)  Goodspeed also could not 
identify Chauncey’s phone number even though he purportedly communicates with him over the phone.  (App. 27.a 
– b, at 156:21-157:4.)

5 As to the Taylor Swift tour, Goodspeed only testified that a person named “Mike Touchins” brought the tour 
investment to his attention.  (App. 34 at 193:8-16.)  Goodspeed claimed to not have Mr. Touchins’ phone number 
and refused to identify how he was able to contact Mr. Touchins.  (App. 35 at 194:7-23.)  Goodspeed also testified 
that he was still attempting to promote the Taylor Swift concert series, but he refused to identify any other persons 
such as representatives of Taylor Swift that he is working with.  (App. 38-39 at 207:2-208:2.)
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Goodspeed’s practice was to spend funds within days of receiving them, often spending 

the entire amount received within days.  (App. 5 at ¶ 19.) For larger receipts, Goodspeed would 

spend the funds within a month.  Id. For example, on January 16, 2017, Goodspeed had less than 

$200 in his Comerica account xx6232 (“Comerica Account”). Id. On January 17, 2017, 

Goodspeed received $100,000 from BUCF. Id. The next deposit into the Comerica account—

$50,000 from BUCF—occurred on January 23, 2017. Id. From January 18, 2017 through 

January 30, 2017, Goodspeed spent: 

• $63,000 to make payments to persons other than BUCF;

• $35,000 in cash withdrawals;

• $28,000 on retail purchases (including a single purchase of 
$23,000 at a jewelry store);

• $10,000 on tickets to various sporting events and concerts;

• $7,000 for debt and child support payments; and

• $7,000 in travel costs.

Id. By January 30, 2017, the Comerica Account held only $58. Id.

On February 8, 2017, Goodspeed’s Comerica Account had a credit balance of $1,272, 

until he received $620,000 from BUCF.  (App. 5-6 at ¶ 20; 49-53.) Over the next month, 

Goodspeed depleted these funds to a balance of $799 on March 8, 2017.  (App. 5-6 at ¶ 20.)

These funds were spent as follows:

• $344,000 to persons other than BUCF;

• $137,000 in automobile purchases;

• $72,000 in retail purchases (including a single $38,000 
purchase of furniture);

• $48,000 in cash withdrawals;
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• $10,000 in debt, child support, and adult probation payments; 
and

• $6,000 on tickets to various sporting events and concerts;

Id. Goodspeed admitted during his deposition that none of these expenditures were in anyway 

connected with the alleged Drake concert promotion.  (App. 32 at 174:5-14; 33 at 182:22-24.) 

C. Goodspeed and Bryant Continue to Ignore and Violate the Court’s Asset Freeze and 
Receivership Orders

On July 19, 2017, the Court entered the Receivership Order,6 directing the court-

appointed receiver—Jennifer Ecklund—to marshal, conserve, hold, and operate the assets of the 

Bryant Defendants, and Defendants Arthur F. Wammel, Wammel Group Holdings Partnership, 

and Wammel Group, LLC pending further order of the Court.7 [Dkt. No. 48].  The Receivership 

Order also declared that “all Receivership Assets are frozen until further order of the Court.”  Id. 

at ¶ 3; see also id. at ¶ 15 (ordering all receivership assets to be delivered to the Receiver), ¶

16(a) (precluding the transfer or sale of receivership assets except as ordered by the Receiver).

On May 15, 2017, the Court issued an Asset Freeze Order, providing in relevant part:

Defendants and [. . .] and all persons in active concert or 
participation with them who receive actual notice of this Order by 
personal service or otherwise are restrained and enjoined from, 
directly or indirectly, making any payment or expenditure of funds, [. 
. .] or effecting any sale, gift, hypothecation or other disposition of 
any asset, pending provision of sufficient proof to the Court of 
sufficient funds or assets to satisfy all claims alleged in the SEC's
Complaint, or the posting of a bond or surety sufficient to assure
payment of any such claim.

6 This Receivership Order superseded the Court’s original Order Appointing Receiver [Dkt. No. 17] entered on May 
15, 2017. The Receivership Order retained the provisions of the prior order, but added the estates of Defendants 
Arthur F. Wammel, Wammel Group LLC, and Wammel Group Holdings Partnership.
7 The term “Asset Freeze Order” refers to the Court’s May 15, 2017 Ex Parte Order Granting Motion for Temporary 
Restraining Order Preliminary Injunction, Asset Freeze, Appointment of a Receiver, Document Preservation Order, 
Order to Make Accounting and Other Emergency Relief, and Setting Hearing on Plaintiff’s Preliminary-injunction 
Motion.  [Dkt. No. 16.]
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Dkt. No. 16 at ¶ 15; see also id. at ¶ 16 (precluding the disbursement of assets, directly or 

indirectly, to the Bryant Defendants), ¶ 18 (precluding the disbursement of funds obtained from 

the Bryant Defendants.)

On May 19, 2017, the Commission personally served Goodspeed with the Asset Freeze 

Order and the Order Appointing Receiver.  [Dkt. No. 28.]  On July 21, 2017, the Receiver served 

Goodspeed with the Receivership Order8 [Dkt. No. 48] and Ex Parte Order Granting Receiver’s

Ex Parte Emergency Motion to Expand the Receivership and Asset Freeze Against the Wammel 

Defendants, For Temporary Restraining Order, and for Preliminary Injunction [Dkt. No. 49] 

(“Expanded Asset Freeze Order”).  See Dkt. No. 52.

However, despite their actual receipt of the asset freeze and receivership orders, 

Goodspeed and Bryant continued to collaborate in dissipating BUCF investor funds, in direct 

violation of the Court’s orders. More specifically, in violation of the Court’s Asset Freeze Order

and the Receivership Order, Goodspeed and Bryant continue to deplete BUCF investor funds by:

(1) using BUCF investor funds for new investments initiated after the entry and service of the 

Asset Freeze Order and the Receivership Order; and (2) funneling BUCF investor funds from 

Goodspeed to Bryant and Mrs. Bryant. First, Goodspeed and Bryant continue to invest BUCF 

investor funds in new unidentified investments.  At his deposition on November 27, 2017, 

Goodspeed testified:

Q. So you and Mr. Bryant have been in discussions about how to 
further investments [sic] of that $850,000?

A. Yes.

8 On July 19, 2017, the Receiver moved the Court to expand the Receivership to include the assets of Defendants 
Arthur F. Wammel (“Wammel”) and Wammel Group LLC (Wammel Group”, collectively, the “Wammel 
Defendants”).  See Dkt. No. 45.
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Q. When did you last speak about this?

A. Speak all the time about it.

Q. When was the last time you spoke about this?

A. Recently, we talk about it regularly.

[. . .]

Q. So what did you and Mr. Bryant talk about with regards to 
investing that $850,000 that you still hold?

A. It's involved in different situations, just whatever, anything that 
we can try to work to make money. Because the thing is, that's it, 
anything that we can work to make money.

Q. Have you guys discussed any specific investment opportunities?

A. Different stuff, yeah, a lot of show stuff I told him about, 
different stuff, different tours that's coming up, different stuff.

Q. Give me some examples?

A. Talk about some Taylor Swift stuff, talked about different stuff, 
a lot of parties come up. You've got New Year's Eve events, you 
got Super Bowl coming up, a lot of big events that we can be 
involved in.

(App. 30-31 at 168:9-169:12.) These efforts by Goodspeed and Bryant directly violate the 

Court’s Asset Freeze Order, which states that Bryant and Goodspeed “are restrained and enjoined 

from, directly or indirectly, making any payment or expenditure of funds, [. . .] or effecting any sale, 

gift, hypothecation or other disposition of any asset . . . Further, any . . . individual holding . . . 

assets for or on behalf of any of the Defendants shall make no transactions in assets or securities 

. . . and no disbursement of assets or securities . . .”  Asset Freeze Order [Dkt. No. 16] at ¶ 15.

The Asset Freeze Order further states that, “[a]ll other individuals . . . are hereby restrained and 

enjoined from disbursing any funds, securities, or other property obtained from Defendants 
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without adequate consideration.  Id. at ¶ 18; see also id. at ¶ 19 (prohibiting, inter alia, the 

pledging or encumbering of the Bryant Defendants’ assets).

Second, as recently as March 27, 2018, Goodspeed and Bryant have continued to misuse 

BUCF investor assets by funneling at least $100,000 in BUCF investor funds back to Bryant.  

(App. 6 at ¶ 23.) Some of these transfers appear to have been made in cash, but at least $49,500 

was transferred to Bryant by wire transfer—well after the issuance of the Court’s Asset Freeze 

Order and Receivership Order and service of same on Goodspeed and Bryant. Id. at ¶ 22. The 

Commission recently obtained bank records for a bank account held by Goodspeed.  These 

records indicate that—well after the Court issued, and Goodspeed was personally served with,

the Asset Freeze Order and Receivership Order—Goodspeed made multiple wire transfers to a

Capital One account ending in x1209 (“Bryant Capital One Account”) and to a Bank of America 

account ending in x1240 (“Bryant Bank of America Account”). See App. 72, 79, 97. The bank 

records indicate that the Bryant Capital One Account is held in the name of Mrs. Bryant.  (App. 

72.) On December 11, 2017, Goodspeed transferred $4,500 to the Bryant Capital One Account.  

(App. 79.) On February 9, 2018, Goodspeed transferred $35,000 to the Bryant Capital One 

Account.  (App. 72.)9 The Bryant Bank of America Account is held in the name of both Bryant 

and Mrs. Bryant.  (App. 72-73.) On March 27, 2018, Goodspeed transferred $10,000 to the 

Bryant Bank of America Account.  (App. 87, 97.) Goodspeed made additional cash deposits into 

one or both of the Bryant Capital One Account and the Bryant Bank of America Account.  (App. 

6 at ¶ 23.)

9 According to a recent filing with this Court, Mrs. Bryant attested that she has never worked for Goodspeed.  Dkt. 
No. 185 at 2 (“I have never worked for, been an officer of, handled any business related to, or been involved in any 
way in any of the entities or activities currently being investigated.”).  Thus, Goodspeed’s transfers to the Capital 
One Account cannot be considered compensation for any services provided by Mrs. Bryant to Goodspeed.  Further, 
Mrs. Bryant attested that, “[n]one of the funds currently held in this account, nor any that have ever passed through 
it, belong to any party to this matter.”  Id.
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III.
ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

A. The Court Should Expand the Receivership to Include Goodspeed’s Assets

Federal courts have broad equitable powers enabling them to fashion appropriate 

ancillary remedies necessary to effectuate the purposes of the federal securities laws, to preserve 

defendants’ assets, and to ensure that wrongdoers do not profit from their unlawful conduct.

SEC v. Manor Nursing Centers, Inc., 458 F.2d 1082, 1103-4 (2d Cir. 1972); SEC v. Blatt, 583 

F.2d 1325, 1335-1336 (5th Cir. 1978).  In this regard, the power of the district court to appoint a 

receiver to marshal and preserve assets and perfect property rights is well-established.  SEC v. 

First Fin. Grp., 645 F.2d 429, 438 (5th Cir. 1981); see also 12 C. Wright, A. Miller & R. 

Marcus, “Federal Practice & Procedure” §2983 at 23-24 (2d ed. 1997).  An evidentiary hearing is 

not required on the Commission’s request to appoint a receiver where the record discloses 

sufficient facts to warrant such an appointment.  Bookout v. Atlas Fin. Corp., 395 F. Supp. 1338, 

1342 (N.D. Ga. 1974), aff’d, 514 F.2d 757 (5th Cir. 1975). The Court may appoint a receiver on 

a prima facie showing of fraud and mismanagement.  See First Fin. Grp., 645 F.2d at 438.

The appointment of a receiver to marshal, conserve, and manage Goodspeed’s property 

and other property traceable to the fraud is essential to securing recovery of assets for victims of 

this fraud. The evidence presented herein overwhelmingly establishes that Goodspeed has

misappropriated and misapplied at least $1.37 million received from the Bryant Defendants on 

behalf of the BUCF investors.  Further, Goodspeed claims to be in possession of, or have control 

over, investor assets or assets acquired with investor funds. (App. 28 at 160:5-10; 39 at 208:14-

19.)

But given Goodspeed and Bryant’s activities, the BUCF investor assets are at great risk 

of dissipation. Goodspeed admitted that he and Bryant are actively trying to invest the BUCF 
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investor funds. (App. 30-31.)  Even though he would not identify the specific investments being

pursued, it is axiomatic that any purported investment poses risk to the investors. Also, 

Goodspeed has already transferred more than $100,000 in investor funds to Bryant and hundreds 

of thousands of dollars to other parties who do not have a legitimate claim to those assets. (App. 

5-6 at ¶¶ 19, 20, and 23.) Further, these assets are clearly subject to this Court’s Asset Freeze 

and Receivership orders.

Given that the Court has already appointed the Receiver for these purposes, the Court 

should expand the existing receivership to include Goodspeed’s assets.

B. The Court Should Issue a Preliminary Injunction to Halt Goodspeed’s Ongoing 
Fraud and Protect Investors From Further Harm

1. A Special Standard Applies to Commission Requests for Injunctions and Asset 
Freezes.

Federal courts have broad equitable powers enabling them to fashion appropriate 

remedies necessary to grant full relief, including injunctions and asset freezes.  SEC v. Blatt, 583 

F.2d 1325, 1335-1336 (5th Cir. 1978).  Unlike private litigants, however, the Commission is not 

required to show a risk of irreparable injury, loss, or damage to obtain preliminary injunctive 

relief.10 SEC v. Mgmt. Dynamics, Inc., 515 F.2d 801, 808 (2d Cir. 1975); Unifund, 910 F.2d 

1028, 1036 (2nd Cir. 1990). Rather, the Commission is entitled to entry of preliminary 

injunctive relief upon a showing that it is likely to succeed on the merits of its case. See 15 

U.S.C. § 77t(b); 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d); see also SEC v. Cavanagh, 155 F.3d 129, 132 (2d Cir. 

10 “[T]he rationale for this rule is readily apparent.  It requires little elaboration to make the point that the SEC 
appears in these proceedings not as an ordinary litigant, but as a statutory guardian charged with safeguarding the 
public interest in enforcing the securities laws.  Hence, by making a showing required by statute that the defendant 
‘is engaged or about to engage’ in illegal acts, the Commission is seeking to protect the public interest, and ‘the 
standards of the public interest, not the requirements of private litigation, measure the propriety and need for 
injunctive relief.’” SEC v. Mgmt. Dynamics, Inc., 515 F.2d at 808-809 (quoting Hecht v. Bowles, 321 U.S. 321, 331 
(1944)).
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1998). 

Section 20(b) of the Securities Act and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act authorize the 

Commission to seek, and direct federal courts to enter, “a permanent or temporary injunction or 

restraining order” upon a “proper showing” that the defendant “is engaged or is about to engage” 

in violations of the securities laws. See 15 U.S.C. § 77t(b); 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d). In the Fifth 

Circuit, the Commission makes a proper showing and “is entitled to prevail when the inferences 

flowing from the defendant’s prior illegal conduct, viewed in light of present circumstances, 

betoken a “reasonable likelihood” of future transgressions.” SEC v. Zale Corp., 650 F.2d 718, 

720 (5th Cir. 1981). 

To determine whether there is a “reasonable likelihood” of future violations, courts

analyze: (1) the nature of the past violation; (2) the defendant’s present attitude; and (3) objective 

constraints on (or opportunities for) future violations of the securities laws (“Zale factors”). Id.

“Such factors include the egregiousness of the defendant’s actions, the isolated or recurrent 

nature of the infraction, the degree of scienter involved, the sincerity of the defendant’s 

recognition of the wrongful nature of his conduct, and the likelihood that the defendant’s 

occupation will present opportunities for future violations.”  Id.  When the Commission has 

established a prima facie showing of violations and the likelihood that such violations will 

continue, issuance of a preliminary injunction is appropriate.  First Fin. Grp., 645 F.2d at 434-

35; SEC v. United Fin. Group, Inc., 474 F.2d 354, 358 (9th Cir. 1973); SEC v. Keller Corp., 323 

F.2d 397, 402-03 (7th Cir. 1963).

Here, the Zale factors overwhelmingly favor the entry of a preliminary injunction against 

Goodspeed. His violations are egregious and ongoing. Goodspeed has defrauded the BUCF 

investors of at least $1.37 million, and his violations have occurred for approximately 16 months.
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He has also acted with a high degree of scienter, employing false claims that he would 

immediately invest the BUCF investor funds in the alleged Drake and Taylor Swift concert 

series. (App. 55 at ¶ 2; 62 at ¶ 2.)  Finally, Goodspeed has not recognized the wrongful nature of 

his conduct.

Moreover, given the circumstances of Goodspeed’s violations of the Asset Freeze Order 

and Receivership Order, his improper activities are continuing and, absent preliminary injunctive 

relief, are practically certain to continue.  On November 27, 2017, counsel for the Commission 

and the Receiver conducted a partial deposition of Goodspeed.  During that deposition, counsel 

for the Commission warned Goodspeed (and Bryant) that any transfers of receivership assets 

must go to the Receiver—and Goodspeed acknowledged that he understood this obligation:

[Counsel for the Commission]: I do want to state for the record so
[sic], Mr. Bryant, I believe you understand this as well.  The court 
has appointed a receiver over Bryant United Capital Funding's 
assets as well as Mr. Bryant's individual assets. So as Mr. Bryant 
understands to the extent any money is or when money is returned, 
the actual money needs to be directed to the receiver established by 
the court.

[Goodspeed]:  That's you?

[Counsel for the Receiver]: That's my client, Jennifer Ecklund, we 
are counsel to her.

[Goodspeed]: I got what you're saying.

[Counsel for the Receiver]: We're on all the formal documents that 
you received as well.

(App. 43 at 239:10-24.)

2. The Commission is Likely to Succeed on the Merits of Its Case Against Goodspeed.

Ample evidence establishes that Goodspeed intentionally, or at least with severe 

recklessness, orchestrated and executed a $1.37 million securities fraud, which violated 
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Securities Act Section 17(a)(2) [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(2)] and Exchange Act Section 10(b) [15 

U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 10b-5(b) [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]. Securities Act Section 17(a) 

provides in relevant part:

It shall be unlawful for any person in the offer or sale of any 
securities . . . by the use of any means or instruments of 
transportation or communication in interstate commerce or by use 
of the mails, directly or indirectly—

[. . .]

(2) To obtain money or property by means of any untrue statement 
of a material fact or any omission to state a material fact necessary 
in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances 
under which they were made, not misleading, or [. . .].

15 U.S.C. § 77q(a).  

Exchange Act Section 10(b) makes it unlawful to use or employ any manipulative or 

deceptive device in connection with the purchase or sale of any security in contravention of 

prescribed Commission rules.  15 U.S.C. § 78j(b).  Exchange Act Rule 10b-5 provides:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the 
use of any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of 
the mails or of any facility of any national securities exchange,

[. . .] (b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit 
to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements 
made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were 
made, not misleading, or [. . .].

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

Violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 require showing scienter—a

mental state embracing intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud—but negligence suffices for 

Securities Act Section 17(a)(2).  Aaron v. SEC, 446 U.S. 680, 691, 697 (1980).  Scienter is 

established by showing that the defendant acted intentionally or with severe recklessness.  Broad 

v. Rockwell Int’l Corp., 642 F.2d 929, 961 (5th Cir. 1981).
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a. Goodspeed Offered and Sold Securities.

The interests offered and sold by Goodspeed to the Bryant Defendants, on behalf of the 

BUCF investors, are securities under Section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act and Section 3(a)(10) 

of the Exchange Act because they are investment contracts. See 15 U.S.C. § 77b(a)(1) and §

78c(a)(10) In fact, Goodspeed titled the documents he executed with the Bryant Defendants as

“Investor Agreements.”  (App. 55, 62.) 

In SEC v. W.J. Howey Co., the Supreme Court held that an investment contract exists 

where (1) a person invests his or her money, (2) in a common enterprise, and (3) with the 

expectation of profits derived solely from the efforts of the promoter or a third party.  328 U.S. 

293, 298-99 (1946).  The definition of a security “embodies a flexible rather than static principle, 

one that is capable of adaptation” and requires an analysis into the substance rather than the form 

of the transaction with an emphasis on economic reality.  Id.; see also United Hous. Found., Inc. 

v. Forman, 421 U.S. 837, 850 (1975); SEC v. Edwards, 540 U.S. 389 (2004).

In this case, the interests in the respective concert productions satisfy the Howey test.  

First, the Bryant Defendants transferred BUCF investors’ funds directly to accounts controlled 

by Goodspeed. (App. 3-4, 11-15.)  Second, the funds were invested in a “common enterprise” 

because the investors’ fortunes were dependent on the efforts and expertise of Goodspeed, which 

is sufficient to satisfy the “broad vertical commonality” required in the Fifth Circuit.  See Long v. 

Shultz Cattle Co., Inc., 881 F.2d 129, 140 (5th Cir. 1989); SEC v. Koscot Interplanetary, Inc.,

497 F.2d 473, 479 (5th Cir. 1974).

Third, the Bryant Defendants, as well as the BUCF investors—since they were unaware 

of this investment—were entirely passive, and expected to realize profits based solely on the 

efforts of Goodspeed. (App. 27 at 153:2-14; 41 at 225:1-12.) Courts have not interpreted the 

Case 4:17-cv-00336-ALM   Document 201   Filed 04/30/18   Page 23 of 31 PageID #:  3366



MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S EMERGENCY PAGE 18
MOTION TO EXPAND RECEIVERSHIP, AND FOR ASSET FREEZE,
PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION, AND ORDER TO MAKE AN ACCOUNTING

“solely” language in Howey restrictively.  SEC v. Merchant Capital, LLC, 483 F.3d 747, 754-55

(11th Cir. 2007).  The relevant efforts of others are the “entrepreneurial or managerial” efforts on 

which investors’ financial return depend. Forman, 421 U.S. at 852 (1975) (citing Howey, 28 

U.S. at 301).  In Williamson v. Tucker, the Fifth Circuit noted that analysis of this factor turned 

on whether the efforts of others “are undeniably significant ones . . . which affect the failure or 

success of the enterprise.”  645 F.2d 404, 418 (5th Cir. 1981) (citing SEC v. Glenn W. Turner 

Enterprises, Inc., 474 F.2d 476 (9th Cir. 1973)). 

Here, BUCF investors—and the Bryant Defendants themselves—are unable to exercise 

any meaningful control over their capital contributions and rely entirely on Goodspeed to 

manage the investments in the purported Taylor Swift and Drake concert tours. (App. 27 at 

153:2-14; 41 at 225:1-12.) In fact, BUCF investors had no knowledge of the investment 

contracts with Goodspeed.  Without that knowledge, they cannot exercise any meaningful 

control. Second, Goodspeed alone purportedly directs the promotion of the concert events.  

(App. 27 at 153:2-14; 41 at 225:1-12.) In sum, the limited partnership interests acquired by 

BUCF investors are securities by virtue of being investment contracts that satisfy the Howey

factors.  

b. Goodspeed Made, and Continues to Make, Untrue and Misleading Statements of 
Material Fact 

Goodspeed violated Section 17(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5(b) thereunder by, among other things: (a) making statements in 

the offer and sale, and in connection with the purchase or sale, of securities that were false and 

materially misleading; and/or (b) omitting material facts in the offer and sale, and in connection 

with the purchase or sale, of the investments in the concert promotions, as evidenced in the Lil 

Wayne Agreement, Drake Agreement, and the Taylor Swift Agreement.
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A statement or omitted fact is material if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable 

investor would consider the information important in making an investment decision. SEC v. 

Seghers, 298 Fed. Appx. 319, 328 (5th Cir. 2008); see also SEC v. Gann, 565 F.3d 932, 937 n.17 

(5th Cir. 2009). “Misrepresentations and omissions are material as a matter of law if they 

involve facts that are so obviously important to [a reasonable] investor that reasonable minds 

cannot differ on the question of materiality.”  SEC v. Pittsford Capital Income Partners, LLC,

2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 62338, at 38 (W.D.N.Y. Aug. 23, 2007) (emphasis added).  For example, 

statements about how investor funds will be used are material as a matter of law.  See, e.g., SEC 

v. United Energy Partners, Inc., 88 F. App’x 744, 746 (5th Cir. 2004) (misuse and 

misappropriation of investor funds is material); SEC v. Recile, 10 F.3d 1093, 1097 (5th Cir. 

1997) (misuse of investor funds is material); SEC v. Research Automation Corp., 585 F.2d 31, 

35-36 (2d Cir. 1978) (“[w]hat reasonable investor would not wish to know that the money raised 

... would not be used for working capital but be diverted to [the company]’s officers?”); SEC v. 

Brooks, No. 3:99-cv-1326-D, 1999 WL 493052, *2 (N.D. Tex. July 12, 1999) 

(misrepresentations about use of investor funds and commingling are material).  As a matter of 

law, the misrepresentations by Goodspeed about how investor funds would be used were 

material.  

A defendant “makes” a statement if the defendant is “the person or entity with ultimate 

authority over the statement, including its content and whether and how to communicate it.”  

Janus Cap. Grp., Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 564 U.S. 135 (2011).  A violation of these 

provisions occurs when the alleged misrepresentations or omitted facts are material.  Information 

is material if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider such 

information important in making an investment decision or if the information would significantly 
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alter the total mix of available information.11 Basic, Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231-32

(1988); United States v. Bruteyn, 686 F. 3d 318, 323 (5th Cir. 2012).

As set forth in detail above, Goodspeed obtained BUCF investor funds, through Bryant,

through the sale of securities by means of numerous material misstatements and omissions 

regarding, among other things, (1) the existence of any Drake or Taylor Swift concert tours, and

(2) the use of investor funds. First, in spite of Goodspeed’s representations in the Drake 

Agreement and the Taylor Swift Agreement, no such concert tours existed.  (App. 67 at ¶ 4; 68 at 

¶ 4.) In those agreements, Goodspeed falsely stated that the BUCF investor funds would be 

“immediately used for the initial deposit” for the Drake concert series and the Taylor Swift 

concert series.  (App. 55 at ¶ 2; 62 at ¶ 2.) In contrast, Goodspeed promptly used the money to 

pay for his lavish lifestyle, and pay back individuals from previous apparent investments.  (App. 

5-6 at ¶¶ 18-20.) Goodspeed made the misstatements because had ultimate authority over each 

of his verbal and written statements, since he prepared and disseminated the Lil Wayne, Drake, 

and Taylor Swift agreements containing the untrue and misleading statements.  (App. 17 at 84:7-

11; 41 at 225:13-16.) cf. App. 37 at 199:15-22 (noting that the Drake Agreement and the Taylor 

Swift Agreement had no material differences other than the identity of the artist, the amount of 

investment, and the time of the investment). Hence, Goodspeed is the “maker” of actionable 

statements and omissions under Janus. Goodspeed also controlled his bank account into which

BUCF investor funds were deposited. (App. 3 at ¶ 7.)

c. Goodspeed Acted, and Continues to Act, with a High Degree of Scienter

Goodspeed acted knowingly or, at a minimum, with severe recklessness.  As the person 

11 Bryant’s comments during Goodspeed’s deposition are telling as to his belief that Goodspeed’s use of BUCF 
investor funds for personal expenses was important information that would have impacted the decision to invest 
with Goodspeed.  App. 42, [Goodspeed Depo.] at 238:19 (“If you spent my money inappropriately, shame on you.”)
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controlling the false and misleading statements he made and the investor funds he received,

Goodspeed knew, or was severely reckless in not knowing, that he was not using the BUCF 

investor funds as promised and that, instead of using the funds to promote the Drake and Taylor 

Swift Concert Series, he spent the money for his own undisclosed and unauthorized purposes. In 

fact, the near-instantaneous personal use of the investor funds in Goodspeed’s bank account 

reveals that Goodspeed never intended to use the funds as he represented he would. See (App. 5-

6 at ¶¶ 18, 19, and 20.) Thus, Goodspeed acted with scienter.

d. Goodspeed Used Interstate Commerce

To violate the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws, the misstatements or 

omissions must use the mails or instrumentalities of interstate commerce.  That element is easily 

satisfied here.  The Bryant Defendants wired to Goodspeed funds [see, e.g., App. 13-14] that were 

sourced from BUCF investors located in multiple states and countries, and Goodspeed and Bryant 

communicated by telephone and via email (over the internet). SEC v. Tropikgadget FZE, 2017 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 25495 (D. Mass. Feb. 23, 2017) (citing United States v. Chiaradio, 684 F.3d 265, 281 

(1st Cir. 2012) for the proposition that anything that travels via the internet travels in interstate 

commerce.)

3. Goodspeed’s Misconduct is Ongoing and Will Continue

Among the factors to consider in assessing the likelihood that Goodspeed will repeat his

wrongdoing are (1) the character of the violation, (2) the degree of scienter involved, and 

(3) whether Goodspeed has acknowledged the wrongfulness of his conduct and given sufficient 

assurances that it will not be repeated.  See SEC v. Savoy Indus., Inc., 587 F.2d 1149, 1168 (D.C. 

Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 913 (1979).  A likelihood of future violations can also be 

inferred from past violations.  See SEC v. Murphy, 626 F.2d 633, 655 (9th Cir. 1980).  
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Here, Goodspeed’s conduct demonstrates a high probability that he will continue 

violating the federal securities laws unless he is restrained and enjoined.  This case does not 

involve an isolated incident, but a series of fraudulent investment contracts and recurring 

misappropriations of investor funds for Goodspeed’s personal use. See, e.g., App.55-60; 62-66.

Further, Goodspeed’s violations are egregious and exhibit a high degree of scienter.  In addition, 

even in the face of the Court’s Asset Freeze Order and Receivership Order, Goodspeed continues

to move money and misuse investor funds.  Finally, Goodspeed has not acknowledged the 

wrongfulness of his conduct, nor assured that it will not be repeated.  Given the seriousness of 

Goodspeed’s violations, it is highly likely that he will continue to violate the securities laws 

unless restrained and enjoined. For all the foregoing reasons, a preliminary injunction is 

necessary and appropriate.  The facts described above establish a prima facie showing of 

securities law violations and a likelihood of future violations.

C. The Court Should Also Issue an Order Freezing Goodspeed’s Assets and Requiring 
a Sworn Accounting

Federal courts have broad equitable powers enabling them to fashion appropriate 

ancillary remedies necessary to grant full relief.  SEC v. Manor Nursing Centers, Inc., 458 F.2d 

1082, 1103-4 (2d Cir. 1972); SEC v. Blatt, 583 F.2d 1325, 1335-1336 (5th Cir. 1978).  The Court 

should freeze Goodspeed’s assets based on the misconduct described above to prevent further 

dissipation of investor funds, pending an assessment by the Receiver of the assets’ value and 

liquidity and their potential return to investors.  See, e.g., SEC v. Manor Nursing Centers, Inc.,

458 F.2d at 1106.  Goodspeed’s wrongdoing amply demonstrates that he should not be entrusted 

with investor funds. 

An asset freeze is appropriate to assure Goodspeed’s satisfaction of whatever equitable 

relief the Court ultimately may order.  Id.; CFTC v. Muller, 570 F.2d 1296, 1300 (5th Cir. 1978).  
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The Court’s power to freeze assets extends to accounts over which a defendant exercises 

effective control, even if the ill-gotten gains have not been traced to the account. See SEC v. 

Grossman, 887 F. Supp. 649, 661 (S.D.N.Y. 1995).  This is because an asset freeze “facilitate(s) 

enforcement of any disgorgement remedy that might be ordered” and may be granted “even in 

circumstances where the elements required to support a traditional SEC injunction have not been 

established.”  SEC v. Unifund SAL, 910 F.2d 1028, 1041 (2d Cir. 1990).  Courts recognize that 

an asset freeze is sometimes necessary to ensure that a future disgorgement order will have 

effect.  See, e.g., United States v. Cannistraro, 694 F. Supp. 62, 71 (D.N.J. 1988), aff’d in part, 

vacated in part on other grounds, 871 F.2d 1210 (3d Cir. 1989); SEC v. Vaskevitch, 657 F. Supp. 

312, 315 (S.D.N.Y. 1987); SEC v. R. J. Allen & Assocs., Inc., 386 F. Supp. 866, 881 (S.D. Fla. 

1974).

The Commission’s burden is lower than that of a preliminary injunction because an asset 

freeze only preserves the status quo. Unifund SAL, 910 F.2d at 1039. To obtain an asset freeze, 

the Commission need not show a reasonable likelihood of future violations.  Muller, 570 F.2d at 

1300. Rather, it need only present a prima facie case that a violation of the securities laws has 

occurred. See Unifund SAL, 910 F.2d at 1040-41; see also 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b) and 78u(d)(1).

As set forth above, the Commission has demonstrated Goodspeed’s violations of the antifraud 

provisions, so the Court should freeze Goodspeed’s assets to help facilitate recovery for investor-

victims in this case, and to prevent Goodspeed from concealing or wasting whatever assets 

remain. 

In addition, to more fully ascertain the extent of Goodspeed’s misconduct and the 

location of assets he possesses or controls, the Court should order Goodspeed to provide the 

Commission and the Receiver, on an expedited basis, with a sworn accounting.  These orders 
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will assure that whatever equitable relief might ultimately be granted is available and 

meaningful.  See R. J. Allen & Assocs., Inc., 386 F. Supp. at 881.

IV.
CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and for the reasons set forth above, the Commission 

respectfully requests that the Court enter orders granting the Motion and providing the relief 

requested.

Dated:  April 30, 2018 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Jason P. Reinsch
JASON P. REINSCH
Texas Bar No. 24040120

United States Securities and Exchange 
Commission
Fort Worth Regional Office
Burnett Plaza, Suite 1900
801 Cherry Street, Unit #18
Fort Worth, TX 76102-6882
Ph: 817-900-2601 (jpr)
Fax: 817-978-4927
reinschj@sec.gov

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that, on April 30, 2018, I electronically filed the foregoing Plaintiff’s 
Emergency Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Expand Receivership, and for Asset 
Freeze, Preliminary Injunction, and Order to Make Accounting with the Clerk of Court for the 
Eastern District of Texas, Sherman Division using the CM/ECF system, which will send a notice 
of electronic filing to all counsel of record who have consented to electronic notification.  I
further certify that I mailed the foregoing document and the notice of electronic filing by first-
class mail to all non-CM/ECF participants.

/s/ Jason P. Reinsch
Jason P. Reinsch
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

SHERMAN DIVISION
_____________________________________________ 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION :

:
Plaintiff, :

:
v. :   Civil Action No.: 4:17-cv-00336-ALM

:
THURMAN P. BRYANT, III, :
BRYANT UNITED CAPITAL FUNDING, INC., :
ARTHUR F. WAMMEL, :
WAMMEL GROUP, LLC, :
CARLOS GOODSPEED a/k/a SEAN PHILLIPS :
a/k/a GC d/b/a TOP AGENT ENTERTAINMENT :
d/b/a MR. TOP AGENT ENTERTAINMENT, :

:
Defendants, :

:
THURMAN P. BRYANT, JR., :

:
Relief Defendant. :

:

APPENDIX IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S EMERGENCY MOTION TO 
EXPAND RECEIVERSHIP, AND FOR ASSET FREEZE, PRELIMINARY 

INJUNCTION, AND ORDER TO MAKE ACCOUNTING

The Securities and Exchange Commission submits the attached appendix in support of its 

Emergency Unopposed Motion to Expand Receivership, and for Asset Freeze, Preliminary 

Injunction, and Order to Make Accounting.  The appendix contains:

Description Appendix 
Citation

1 Declaration of Carol Stumbaugh App. 000001
2 Goodspeed Deposition Exhibit 5 App. 000011
3 Goodspeed Deposition Exhibit 6 App. 000012
4 Goodspeed Deposition Exhibit 9 App. 000013
5 Goodspeed Deposition Exhibit 14 App. 000014
6 Goodspeed Deposition Exhibit 15 App. 000015
7 Goodspeed Deposition Excerpts App. 000016
8 Goodspeed Deposition Exhibit 8 App. 000045
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9 Goodspeed Deposition Exhibit 4 App. 000047
10 Goodspeed Deposition Exhibit 11 App. 000049
11 Goodspeed Deposition Exhibit 10 App. 000054
12 Goodspeed Deposition Exhibit 13 App. 000061
13 Declaration of Jesse P. Schaudies, Jr. App. 000067
14 Declaration of Brent Smith App. 000068
15 Goodspeed’s Bank of America Statement, February 2018 App. 000069
16 Goodspeed’s Bank of America Statement, December 2017 App. 000076
17 Brandi Bryant’s Bank of America Statement, March 2018 App. 000084
18 Goodspeed’s Bank of America Statement, March 2018 App. 000094

Dated:  April 30, 2018 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Jason P. Reinsch
JASON P. REINSCH
Texas Bar No. 24040120

United States Securities and Exchange 
Commission
Fort Worth Regional Office
Burnett Plaza, Suite 1900
801 Cherry Street, Unit #18
Fort Worth, TX 76102-6882
Ph: 817-900-2601
Fax: 817-978-4927
reinschj@sec.gov

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that, on April 30, 2018, I electronically filed the foregoing Plaintiff’s 
Appendix in Support of is Emergency Motion for Expansion of Receivership, Asset Freeze, 
Preliminary Injunction, and Order to Make Accounting with the Clerk of Court for the Eastern 
District of Texas, Sherman Division using the CM/ECF system, which will send a notice of 
electronic filing to all counsel of record who have consented to electronic notification.  I further 
certify that I mailed the foregoing document and the notice of electronic filing by first-class mail 
to all non-CM/ECF participants.  

/s/ Jason P. Reinsch
Jason P. Reinsch
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

SHERMAN DIVISION
_____________________________________________ 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  : 
       : 
    Plaintiff,  :   
       :  
 v.      :   Civil Action No.: 4:17-cv-00336-ALM
       :  
THURMAN P. BRYANT, III,     : 
BRYANT UNITED CAPITAL FUNDING, INC., :
ARTHUR F. WAMMEL,     : 
WAMMEL GROUP, LLC,    : 
CARLOS GOODSPEED a/k/a SEAN PHILLIPS :
a/k/a GC d/b/a TOP AGENT ENTERTAINMENT :
d/b/a MR. TOP AGENT ENTERTAINMENT, :   
       : 
    Defendants,  : 
       :  
THURMAN P. BRYANT, JR.,    : 
       : 
    Relief Defendant. :     
       : 

DECLARATION OF CAROL STUMBAUGH

I, Carol Stumbaugh, declare under penalty of perjury, in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 

1746, that the following is true and correct and that I have personal knowledge of, and am 

competent to testify to, the matters stated herein.

I. My Responsibilities in Connection With the Underlying Investigation 

1. I am currently employed as a Senior Accountant in the Division of Enforcement 

of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC” or “Commission”).  My office 

is in the Commission’s Fort Worth Regional Office in Fort Worth, Texas, where I have been 

employed since September 2003.  I am a Certified Public Accountant, licensed by the Texas 

State Board of Public Accountancy.  I am also a Certified Fraud Examiner.

2. My official duties with the Commission include participating in fact-finding 
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inquiries and investigations to determine whether the federal securities laws have been violated 

and assisting in the Commission’s litigation of alleged securities laws violations.  This includes 

interviewing witnesses, reviewing and analyzing financial and other records of various entities 

and individuals, tracing financial transactions to determine their source and use, and testifying 

about my findings and conclusions.   

3. As part of my official duties, I participated in a Commission investigation 

involving the Defendants and Relief Defendant to determine whether they have violated, or are 

actively violating, the federal securities laws.  In connection with this investigation, and pursuant 

to lawfully issued subpoenas and document requests, I, and other members of the SEC staff, 

reviewed various documents related to the Defendants and Relief Defendant, including but not 

limited to, bank-account records, public records, and records produced by the Defendants, 

witnesses, and other third-parties, and the transcript of the deposition of Defendant Carlos 

Goodspeed a/k/a Sean Phillips a/k/a GC d/b/a Top Agent Entertainment d/b/a Mr. Top Agent 

(“Goodspeed”) from November 27, 2017. 

II. Summary of Bryant and BUCF’s Investment Offering and False Promises 

4. These records revealed the following facts: Thurman P. Bryant, III (“Bryant”) 

created, owns, manages, and otherwise controls an entity, among others, named Bryant United 

Capital Funding, Inc. (“BUCF”), and that: 

a. in order to raise capital for BUCF, Bryant disseminated to investors

limited partnership agreements that offered and sold limited partnership 

interests in BUCF;   

b. BUCF’s partnership agreements promise returns of 30% – 42% per year, 

paid monthly and state that all initial, additional, or reinvested capital will 
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be retained in secure escrow accounts;    

c. Bryant represented to investors that their invested funds would be used 

proof of funds from which BUCF would obtain a line of credit enabling it 

to invest in mortgage loans.  

5. Based on the records I reviewed, Bryant raised at least $22.7 million for BUCF, 

from July 12, 2011 through April 30, 2017, via wire transfers and checks, from approximately 

100 investors.  Also, investor proceeds were not retained in a secure escrow account, and Bryant 

knew it.  Bryant collected investor proceeds and, unbeknownst to and unauthorized by investors, 

transferred approximately $1.37 million—or 6% of the total funds raised—to Goodspeed.   

III. Bank Records Illustrate the Misuse of BUCF Investor Funds

6. As part of my investigative duties, I analyzed records for the following bank 

accounts the period from August 1, 2016 through April 12, 2018: 

Account #
Name of Institution Account Name (Truncated)

Comerica Bank Carlos Goodspeed DBA Mr Top Agent 
Entertainment 6232

Bank of America Carlos Goodspeed DBA Mr Top Agent 
Entertainment 7560

Bank of America Thurman Petty Bryant III, Brandi Brooks Bryant 1240

7. In reviewing the records for the Goodspeed Comerica account ending xx6232, I

learned that Goodspeed has signatory authority and control over this account.  For this account, I 

reviewed account statements, and certain deposit and withdrawal supporting documentation.   

8. Exhibit 1, attached, is a true and correct copy of the account summary for the

Goodspeed Comerica account xx6232, which I prepared from the bank records identified above.  

9. In reviewing the records for the Goodspeed Bank of America account ending 

APP. 000003

Case 4:17-cv-00336-ALM   Document 201-2   Filed 04/30/18   Page 3 of 61 PageID #:  3380



DECLARATION OF CAROL STUMBAUGH PAGE 4 OF 7 

xx7560, I learned that Goodspeed has signatory authority and control over this account.  For this

account, I reviewed account statements, and certain deposit and withdrawal supporting 

documentation. 

10. Exhibit 2, attached, is a true and correct copy of the account summary for the 

Goodspeed Bank of America account xx7560. 

11. In reviewing the records for the Bryant Bank of America account ending xx1240,

I learned that Bryant and his spouse, Brandi Brooks Bryant, have control over this account.  For 

this account, I reviewed account statements, and certain deposit and withdrawal supporting 

documentation. 

12. Exhibit 3, attached, is a true and correct copy of the account summary for the 

Bryant Bank of America account xx1240.   

13. Based on the bank records I reviewed, Goodspeed received at least $2.1 million 

from over 20 individuals and entities, from August 1, 2016 through March 8, 2018, via wire 

transfers and checks.  Of this amount, $1.37 million was ill-gotten proceeds from Bryant and 

BUCF’s (collectively, the “Bryant Defendants”) fraud. 

14. From August 2016 through March 2018, Goodspeed has paid $1.0 million out to 

individuals other than BUCF. 

15. As of March 8, 2018, it appears that Goodspeed has a balance of $1,868 in the 

Bank of America account xx7560.  The Comerica account xx6232 was closed in April 2017 with 

a zero balance.

16. I have identified no evidence indicating that Goodspeed escrowed funds or used 

funds in connection with producing, promoting, or operating concerts by Drake or Taylor Swift.

17. The only concert related activity by Goodspeed which I have identified is the 
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purchase of numerous sports venue and concert tickets totaling $97,000.  These purchases were 

from sports teams and national ticket outlets.  

18. Rather than using funds to produce, promote, or operate concerts, Goodspeed 

used the funds to pay for his lavish lifestyle, and pay back individuals from previous apparent 

investments.

19. Goodspeed’s practice was to spend funds within days of receiving them, often 

spending the entire amount received within days.  For larger receipts, Goodspeed would spend 

the funds within a month.  For example, on January 16, 2017, Goodspeed had less than $200 in 

the Goodspeed Comerica account xx6232.  On January 17, 2017, Goodspeed received $100,000 

from BUCF.  The next deposit into the account is on January 23, 2017, which is $50,000 from 

BUCF.  From January 18, 2017 through January 30, 2017, Goodspeed spent: 

$63,000 in payments to persons other than BUCF; 
$35,000 in cash withdrawals; 
$28,000 in retail purchases (including a single purchase of $23,000 at a jewelry 
store); 
$10,000 in various sports and concert tickets; 
$ 7,000 in debt and child support payments; and
$ 7,000 in travel costs.  

The balance in the Goodspeed Comerica account xx6232 dwindled to $58 by January 30, 2017. 

20. On February 8, 2017, the Goodspeed Comerica account xx6232 had a credit 

balance of $1,272, until he received $620,000 from BUCF.  Over the next month, Goodspeed 

also depleted these funds, to a balance of $799 on March 8, 2017.  These funds were spent as 

follows: 

$344,000 to persons other than BUCF; 
$137,000 automobile purchases 
$ 72,000 retail purchases (including a single $38,000 purchase of furniture); 
$ 48,000 cash withdrawals; 
$ 10,000 debt, child support and adult probation payments; and 
$ 6,000 various sports and concert tickets. 
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Goodspeed has testified that none of these amounts relate to the promotion of concerts by Drake 

or Taylor Swift.  

21. On March 31, 2017, Goodspeed opened the Bank of America account xx7560 (the 

Comerica account xx6232 was closed on April 4, 2017).  After minimal cash deposits, 

Goodspeed receives $200,000 from two individuals that had also invested in BUCF (Kenneth 

Zschappel and Robert Zschappel).  On April 17, 2017, Goodspeed received $200,000 from 

Thurman Bryant, Jr.  On May 12, 2017, Goodspeed received $100,000 from Pro B Entertainment 

Group, LLC, an entity controlled by Bryant’s wife, Brandi Bryant.  Goodspeed received funds 

from other individuals and continued to spend these funds in a manner that was not associated 

with producing, promoting, or operating concerts. 

IV. Defendants Continue to Raise and Misappropriate Investor Funds

22. Goodspeed was named a relief defendant in the SEC’s complaint on May 15, 

2017.  On December 11, 2017, Goodspeed wired $4,500 to Brandi Bryant’s bank account at 

Capital One.  Also, on February 9, 2018, Goodspeed wired $35,000 to Brandi Bryant’s bank 

account at Capital One.  On March 26, 2018, Goodspeed transferred $100 from his Bank of 

America account xx7560 to the Bryant Bank of America account xx1240.  The next day, on 

March 27, 2018, Goodspeed transferred $10,000 from his Bank of America account xx7560 to 

the Bryant Bank of America account xx1240.   

23. From both the Goodspeed Comerica account xx6232 and the Goodspeed Bank of 

America account xx7560, there have been cash withdrawals of over $300,000.  In a phone 

conversation on April 17, 2018, Goodspeed admitted that he had sent a total of $100,000 to Trey 

Bryant via Brandi Bryant.   
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Bank Account Summary
Case Name: Bryant United Capital Funding, Inc. (FW 4150)
Bank Name: Comerica Bank
Account Name: Carlos Goodspeed DBA Mr Top Agent Entertainment
Account Number: XXXXXX6232
Period: 08/01/2016 04/30/2017

Balance 08/01/2016 $

Deposits:
Bryant United 1,370,000.00
Other Investors 179,400.00
Cash Deposits 10,250.00
Laz Parking 5,000.00

Total Deposits 1,564,650.00

Withdrawals:
Bryant United
Other Individuals (833,040.00)
Cash Withdrawals (189,931.90)
Retail Purchases (121,194.08)
Adult Probation (50,841.67)
Child Support (3,000.00)
Felicia Goodspeed (7,225.00)
Travel (20,690.69)
Event Tickets (28,458.42)
Cars (272,981.68)
Debt (11,392.85)
Fees (3,211.74)
Restaurants (1,072.90)
Rent (17,543.00)
Utilities (4,066.07)

Total Withdrawals (1,564,650.00)

Ending Balance 04/30/2017 $
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Bank Account Summary
Case Name: Bryant United Capital Funding, Inc. (FW 4150)
Bank Name: Bank of America, N.A.
Account Name: Carlos D Goodspeed Sole Prop DBA Mr Top Agent Entertainment
Account Number: XXXXXXXX7560
Period: 03/01/2017 03/31/2018

Balance 03/01/2017 $

Deposits:
Individuals/Investors:
Thurman Bryant 200,000.00
Kenneth Zschappel 125,000.00
Pro B Entertainment 100,000.00
Robert Zschappel 75,000.00
Yellin Some Profit LLC 8,000.00
Varsity Networks 44,000.00
Victoria Tsalikis 4,960.00
Victoria Wolfe 5,000.00
Andre Emmett 10,000.00
Kimberly Nicholson 10,000.00
Jonathan Waters 915.00
Lamonical Ivery 700.00
Realetek, LLC 27,000.00

Cash Deposits 210,460.00
Automobiles 161,481.54

Total Deposits 982,516.54

Withdrawals:
Individuals/Investors:
Carlos Goodspeed (100,000.00)
Brandi Bryant (39,500.00)
Allen Hollis (5,000.00)
Joseph Mackey (7,500.00)
Melinda Stone (10,000.00)
Angel Sanchez (4,000.00)
Angela Urso (3,000.00)
Myhria Gorman (4,500.00)
TexCap Financial LLC (8,776.00)
Teni Makarian (20,000.00)
Yellin Some Profit LLC (20,000.00)
Bernard James (20,000.00)
Rutt Capital (60,000.00)

Cash Withdrawals (131,171.63)
Retail Purchases (98,659.69)
Travel (55,051.46)
Event Tickets (68,500.10)
Automobiles (200,988.06)
Debt (6,357.29)
Child Support (1,500.00)
Fees (2,698.73)
Insurance (10,199.99)
Restaurants (9,716.57)
Transfers to other accounts (73,948.00)
Transfers to Bryant accounts (10,100.00)
Utilities (9,481.41)
Unknown

Total Expenditures (980,648.93)

Ending Balance 03/31/2018 1,867.61$
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Bank Account Summary
Case Name: Bryant United Capital Funding, Inc. (FW 4150)
Bank Name: Bank of America, N.A.
Account Name: Thurman Petty Bryant III, Brandi Brooks Bryant
Account Number: XXXXXXXX1240
Period: 03/22/2018 04/12/2018

Balance 03/22/2018 $

Deposits:
Carlos Goodspeed 10,100.00
Cash Deposits 1,086.20

Total Deposits 11,186.20

Withdrawals:
House Rental (4,500.00)
Retail Purchasese (1,223.18)
Household Expenses (1,496.09)
Restaurants (1,380.08)
Debt Payments (2,235.84)
Cash Withdrawals (100.00)
Transfers (25.00)

Total Expenditures (10,960.19)

Ending Balance 04/12/2018 226.01$
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